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I.  Introduction

Background

Most federal environmental statutes contain citizen suit provisions
.  Until recently, the majority of citizen suits have been brought under the provisions of the Clean Water Act (CWA) in large part because the Act is a self-enforcing statute, meaning that the permitting and self-reporting requirements of the CWA make bringing a citizen complaint under the Act fairly easy.  More recently, the newly imposed self-monitoring requirements of the Clean Air Act (CAA) may make citizens actions brought under that statute eclipse those brought under the CWA.  Finally, an increasing number of injunctive actions are now brought under the Imminent and Substantial Endangerment provision of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA).  In most cases, in addition to citing the provisions of one of the federal environmental statutes, the citizen suit complaint also alleges claims under a number of state statutes and common law theories.

In the early days of citizen suit litigation it was primarily environmental groups bringing the actions.  Today, a significant number of citizen suits are brought by non-traditional citizens, including companies, landowners, developers, industrial groups, and even states,
 and faith-based organizations.
 

It is argued that citizen suits foster the rule of law, help insure agency accountability and are an aspect of representational democracy and environmental stewardship.  Certainly, citizen suits can insure that the rule of law is being applied equally, even against the largest company and that such large companies are in compliance with national environmental protection objectives.  

It is also argued that citizen suits hold unelected governmental agencies accountable and ensure that they are performing their duties and that such suits serve as a guarantee that public officials are keeping their promise regarding the national commitment to provide meaningful environmental protection.  Finally, many believe that the availability of citizen suits enhances public participation in the environmental debate.

Over the years, citizen suits have become an increasingly important tool for the enforcement of environmental laws.  They provide citizens with the power to redress injury to the environment and to supersede lax enforcement by administrative agencies.  However, unfettered citizen suits may do as much harm as good, as plaintiffs may be blinded by ideology and a desire for vengeance against the alleged polluter.  Some plaintiffs may try to exact extremely punitive penalties for the honest mistakes of the regulated party.  Some suits continue long after the defendant has complied with the applicable standards or laws due to some plaintiff attorneys’ desire for attorneys fees.  Finally, overzealous citizen groups can distract the administrative agency or the defendant from the important task of remedying the cause of the pollution.

II.
Common Issues

There are a number of issues common to the defense of citizen suits no matter which statute the claim is brought under and the litigation will often revolve around those issues.  These include issues regarding notice, standing, diligent prosecution by regulatory authorities, permit-as-shield, continuing violations, statute of limitations and imposition of civil penalties.  Finally, one of the bugaboos present in almost every citizen suit, particularly from the standpoint of the defense, is the question of the award of attorney’s fees to the plaintiff.  

A.  Notice Requirements

Most citizen suit provisions require that plaintiffs provide advance notice of the violation to the alleged violator, EPA, and the enforcement authority in the state in which the alleged violation occurs.  In theory, the purpose of this requirement is to provide a short period of time for the violator to come into compliance (in some instance the violator may not even know that it is out of compliance) or allow the federal or state authority to take appropriate enforcement action.
  While there is no requirement that the notice be exhaustive regarding the alleged violations, it must at least provide information regarding the dates of the claimed violations
 and the pollutants which the defendant is alleged to be discharging.

The notice is mandatory and failure to provide it may lead to dismissal of the citizen suit, although there have been some cases that have made exceptions.

Thus, after receiving a citizen suit notice the defendant should not squander the short time period provided before the citizen suit can be commenced.  Taking action during this period of time can, under the right circumstances, head off the citizen suit.  In some instances the alleged violation, particularly if it is a recordkeeping one, can be remedied.  In other situations, the defendant can approach the regulatory agency about an appropriate enforcement action.

B.  Diligent Prosecution and Comparability

The Clean Water Act’s citizen suit provision prohibits a citizen suit when a state agency or the EPA has commenced and is “diligently prosecuting” an action in court regarding compliance and prohibits the imposition of civil penalties where the EPA or the state enforcement entity is diligently prosecuting an action to recover administrative penalties regarding the alleged violations. There has been a significant amount of litigation over these issues with some disagreement among the courts concerning whether administrative enforcement orders are a bar to citizen suits and what kind of public participation is required in the enforcement action.

Because the policy basis for allowing citizen suits is to challenge violations of environmental law when agencies choose not to, it is appropriate that such suits are generally precluded by “diligent enforcement” of the violation by the agency.  If an agency is proceeding with an enforcement action, a citizen suit may actually hamper enforcement of the law by distracting the regulated party and the agency from compliance activities.  Moreover, in cases where remedial action is being implemented, citizen suits challenging ongoing action may unreasonably delay needed corrective action.

Recent cases have defined the contours of diligent enforcement.  Courts are split over what level of agency action constitutes diligent enforcement.  Under the Clean Air Act and Clean Water Act, citizen suits are precluded when an agency is diligently enforcing the regulations or statutes “in a court . . . .”  Some courts have read that requirement as including administrative procedures.  Other courts have insisted that enforcement actions be brought in the civil court system.

For example, in Upper Chattahoochee Riverkeeper Fund, Inc. v. City of Atlanta, a citizen group challenged modifications of the city’s water treatment facilities.  While the city was in compliance, it had used methods to achieve compliance other than those originally required by a consent order.  The court dismissed the challenge, holding that the remedial methods originally contemplated were not “remedial measures” ‘leading to compliance.’” Upper Chattahoochee Riverkeeper Fund, Inc. v. City of Atlanta, 953 F. Supp. 1541, 1556 (N.D. Ga. 1996).  This ruling promotes flexibility, recognizing the importance of allowing regulated parties to choose appropriate and feasible routes to compliance.

Of course, when agencies are taking proper enforcing action, it is appropriate that citizens suits be disallowed.  However, when agencies are lax in their enforcement, courts have allowed citizen suits to proceed.  Recently, in a case where the only agency action was to mail violation letters to the defendant, the court allowed the citizen action to proceed.  In contrast, in a case where an agency conducted a hearing and fined the violator over one-half million dollars, the court held that the action was precluded.  In the Northern District of Georgia, a court allowed a citizen suit to proceed despite agency enforcement because the agency’s action “fundamentally consist[ed] of a series of extensions of compliance deadlines . . . .”  Culbertson v. Coats American, Inc., 913 F. Supp. 1572 (N.D. Ga. 1995).  In another case, the same court held that Georgia’s Water Quality Control Act was not a “comparable” state law counterpart to the Clean Water Act, so that an administrative order issued by the Environmental Protection Division did not bar citizen suits, primarily because the Court held that Georgia law does not ensure public participation or judicial review.  Georgia Environmental Project, Inc. v. City of Atlanta, 1:90-CV-2403-CAM (N.D. Ga. June 27, 1991) (unpublished decision); see also McAbee v. Fort Payne, 318 F.3d 1248 (11th Cir. 2003), discussed below.

Citizen suits are limited to actions to enforce standards in a permit or under federal law.  Citizen suits under the Clean Water Act may not challenge discharge of pollutants that are not specifically limited in a NPDES or state permit.  Atlantic States Legal Found., Inc. v. Eastman Kodak Co., 12 F.3d 353, 358 (2d Cir. 1994).  Furthermore, citizen suits under the Clean Water Act to enforce a state regulatory scheme that is broader in scope of coverage than the federal act are also precluded.  Id. at 359.  But see Upper Chattahoochee RiverKeeper Fund, Inc. v. City of Atlanta, 953 F. Supp. 1541, 1552-53 (N.D. Ga. 1996) (rejecting the reasoning of Eastman Kodak).

The requirement that state enforcement proceedings be “comparable” to EPA proceedings has engendered a significant amount of litigation under the Clean Water Act with the courts significantly disagreeing about the degree of “comparability” required to make use of the defense.

Recently, in Lockett v. EPA,
 the Fifth Circuit has held that in order to be “comparable” with regard to public notice and opportunity to comment, the state’s statute must afford “significant citizen participation” and assure that interested citizens have “a meaningful opportunity to participate at significant stages of the decision-making process.”  This can be a high hurdle under most state statutes.  

C.  Continuing Violations and Mootness

A third issue of significance under the Clean Water Act is whether a citizen suit may be brought for “wholly past” violations.  While this issue remains murky, truly wholly past violations which are not likely to reoccur are unlikely to support a citizen suit.  However, where a discharger is likely to repeat the transgression, the “wholly past” defense will not prevail.

A related issue is mootness.  Mootness can be described as standing with a time element.  Not only must a party have standing at the start of the case, it must also have standing throughout the case; otherwise, the case becomes moot.  Often, during the course of a lawsuit, the defendant will come into compliance with the applicable standards that the citizens are attempting to enforce.  In such cases, the only remaining remedy for the court to assess is a fine payable to the United States.  When the court is satisfied that defendant is no longer violating statutory and regulatory requirements, it will dismiss the case for mootness.  The theoretical basis of this doctrine is that if the policy objectives of the environmental laws are met, and the violator has come into compliance, then there is no longer any injury to the environment.  Therefore, if EPA or a state agency chooses not to seek civil penalties, it is not the place of citizen groups to do so.  At least according to this line of cases, it was not the intent of Congress to allow the continued pursuit of a case after the defendant had come into compliance.

Of course, one of the dangers with the mootness doctrine lies in the fact that defendant can play mouse to plaintiff’s cat, coming into compliance at the first whiff of the complaint and resuming violations when the case is dismissed as moot.  To prevent such situations, the courts have devised the “voluntary cessation” exception.  Courts have held that stop-gap prevention measures will not render a case moot, though court orders, administrative decrees, and permanent pollution controls will.  Thus, plaintiffs are protected from unscrupulous defendants who comply with environmental requirements only after submitting a motion to dismiss as moot and subsequently return to their polluting ways.  Also, defendants who comply with regulations in good faith are protected from overzealous plaintiffs who continue to press the suit even after the defendant complies.

D.  Standing

Case law has begun to shift away from nearly universal citizen suit standing to serious investigation of whether a plaintiff meets all three prongs of the Lujan standing test.  Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555 (1992).  Article III of the Constitution requires that the federal courts hear only cases and controversies between or among parties.  That constitutional requirement of justiciability has three components; standing, mootness and ripeness.  Standing requires the plaintiff to plead an actual or threatened, personal, palpable injury to a legally protected interest that is fairly traceable to the actions complained of and is likely to be redressed by the remedy sought.
  Citizen suits present unique standing problems because in many statutes Congress gives every person the right to sue for violations of permits or emissions standards.  However, much to the relief of defendants, these provisions are limited by the constitutional doctrine of standing.

Standing serves to apportion court time to problems that the court can actually solve.  The Supreme Court, in Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Environment, discussed below, dismissed a citizen suit under the Community Right to Know Act when the defendant had come into compliance with reporting requirements before suit was filed but after it was notified of the alleged violations by plaintiff.  The only remedy available for these past violations was civil fines paid to the government, which would not have redressed plaintiff’s injuries.  Thus, the citizen group had no legal interest in the litigation except for the general satisfaction of seeing the laws enforced.  This undifferentiated injury is not sufficient to support standing in a citizen suit; there must be discrete and palpable injury suffered by the plaintiff.  Therefore, plaintiff could not maintain suit.  

Even more bizarre are the citizen suits where plaintiffs allege no injury.  In a recent case discussed below, while there was arguably continued violation of discharge or emissions limitations, the courts held that plaintiffs did not allege that they were injured by them.  In that case, the “pollution” was actually helping the local ecosystem by providing needed nutrients in a nutrient poor stream.  As opposed to evidence showing the stream was injured by the effluent, the evidence introduced tended to show that the stream’s ecosystem was flourishing because of the effluent.  The court recognized that there was no injury to plaintiff, and the doctrine of standing was invoked to dismiss the case.

Some, though by no means all, of the recent case law interpreting environmental citizen suit provisions is positive not only for the regulated community, that is, defendants, but also for administrative agencies and, in the end, the environment.  Defendants will be subject to fewer protracted legal battles, thereby lowering costs.  Administrative agencies will be able to do their work, ensuring compliance and preventing violations without interference by judicial action.  Finally, in the long run the environment will benefit because citizens and environmental groups will concentrate their efforts on attacking the worst polluters, policing lethargic agency enforcement, and ending ongoing violations of the law by the most flagrant environmental transgressors.  

III.
Recent Case Law

A.
Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Environment, 523 U.S. 83, 118 S. Ct. 1003 
(1998).

In this case, the Supreme Court held that a citizen suit may not be brought to remedy past violations of the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act (EPCRA).  Plaintiff, an association interested in environmental protection, brought suit against a small manufacturing company for violations of EPCRA under 42 U.S.C. § 11046.  The group accurately alleged that Steel Co. had failed to submit forms detailing its hazardous chemical inventory and toxic releases as required by the Act.  The violations took place from 1988 to 1995, when Citizens for a Better Environment served notice upon Steel Co., EPA and state authorities pursuant to the citizen suit requirements of EPCRA.  Pursuant to the statute, the group then had to wait 60 days before instituting suit.  After receiving notice, and prior to the expiration of the statutory waiting period, Steel Co. properly filed all overdue forms, and there was no allegation of continued or threatened violation.

The Supreme Court dismissed the case for lack of standing after a detailed discussion of precedents holding that issues of justiciability under Article III of the Constitution should be determined before the merits.
  Standing requires three elements, (1) a discrete and cognizable injury (2) which is fairly traceable to the actions complained of (3) and which will be redressed by the remedies sought.  The Court found that the plaintiff’s complaint lacked allegations sufficient to show that the injuries complained of could be redressed by the remedies sought.  The plaintiff asked for a declaratory judgment, authorization to periodically inspect defendant’s facility and records, an order requiring defendant to provide plaintiff copies of all compliance reports submitted to the EPA, penalties of $25,000 per day for violations of [42 U.S.C.] §§ 11022 and 11023, an award of all plaintiff’s costs of investigation and prosecution of the matter, and any further “appropriate” relief.

The Court found that the request for a declaratory judgment would be “worthless to all the world” in light of Steel Co.’s current compliance.  Furthermore, in response to the request for “investigation costs,” the Court noted that the applicable statute provided only for attorneys’ fees, expert costs and court costs.  The Court did not find this sufficient to support standing, as “a plaintiff cannot achieve standing to litigate a substantive issue by bringing suit for the costs of bringing suit.”  The Court also held that civil penalties to be paid to the U.S. Treasury are not sufficient to redress plaintiff’s injuries because they only represent the “undifferentiated public interest” in vindicating the rule of law.  Finally, the Court held that the injunctive remedies, ordering petitioner to open its records to plaintiff and to allow inspections by plaintiff, would not redress the past injuries complained of because Steel Co. had complied with the Act’s disclosure requirements.  Plaintiffs had not alleged any particular present or future injury that might be remedied by such an injunction.  Thus, the Court held that such past injury, without concrete allegations of the threat of future injury, could not support standing, rejecting the argument in an amicus brief from the United States that “there is a presumption of [future] injury when the defendant has voluntarily ceased its illegal activity in response to litigation.”

B.
Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 117 S. Ct. 1154 (1997).  

In Spear, ranchers challenged a decision by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the Secretary of the Interior under the Endangered Species Act (ESA).  The ranchers alleged that a Biological Opinion required to be issued under the Act failed to take into account the economic impact of the recommended action with regard to the Klammath Project reclamation scheme.
  Id. at 1159-60.  Plaintiffs alleged that their ranches would lose some of their water supply if the recommendations of the Biological Opinion were implemented.  Id.  After the Supreme Court rejected the government’s standing defenses, it determined the extent of the citizen suit provision of the ESA.  Id. at 1165.  See 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1).  

The government argued that section 1540(g)(1)(C) permits only citizen suits to challenge non-discretionary functions required under section 1533 (which provides for the content of Biological Opinions).  Spear, 117 S. Ct. 1165.  The government pressed that the determinations involved in the issuance of the Opinion were discretionary in nature.  Id.  However, the Court noted that section 1533(b)(2) requires that the “Secretary shall . . . tak[e] into consideration the economic impact” of  his actions.  Id.  The Court held that, while his final determination is discretionary, the Secretary must take certain factors into consideration, including economic impacts.  Id. at 1166.  The Court ruled that when the Secretary fails to take such factors into consideration, he fails to perform a non-discretionary function and an injured citizen may challenge his actions under section 1540(g)(1)(C).  Id. at 1165-66.

The government also argued that the Secretary’s actions could not be challenged under a separate subsection of the citizen suit provision allowing suit “to enjoin any person, including the United States . . ., who is alleged to be in violation of any provision of” the ESA.  Id. at 1165. 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1)(A).  The Court agreed with this interpretation, noting that subsection (g)(1)(C), discussed above, would be emasculated if citizens were allowed to proceed under subsection (g)(1)(A).  Id. at 1166.  Subsection (g)(1)(C) limits citizen suits against the Secretary to only a specific set of circumstances, and that limitation would be superfluous if subsection (g)(1)(A) were read to allow such suits.  Id.  The Court held that subsection (g)(1)(A) does not refer to violations of the ESA by entities charged with administration of the law.  Id.  Rather, those entities are subject to citizen suits only under subsection (g)(1)(C).  Id.  Thus, the Court held that citizen suits to challenge the administration of the ESA may only be brought under section 1540(g)(1)(C).

C.
United States v. Allegheny Ludlum Corp., 366 F.3d 164 (3rd Cir. 2004).

This Third Circuit decision dealt with defenses and penalties under the Clean Water Act (“CWA”).  The plaintiff brought an action against defendant for violations of the CWA at five of defendant’s manufacturing facilities.  The district court granted judgment for the plaintiff and defendant appealed.

The Third Circuit dealt with three main issues.  First, the court assessed the viability of the so-called “laboratory error defense.”  Defendant stated that several reports on which violations were based were “tainted by laboratory error caused by a contaminated reagent resulting in over-reporting of the amount of . . . discharge.”  Id. at 168.  Although the district court had declined to allow a laboratory error defense, the Third Circuit recognized the defense and remanded that part of the case for reconsideration.  The Third Circuit stated, “we think that deprivation of the defense would not advance the purpose of the CWA and would be grossly unfair.”  Id.  The court further held that although the CWA operates under strict liability, the “laboratory error defense” is not inconsistent where the error resulted in over-reporting.  

Second, the court addressed the calculation of economic benefit received by the defendant as a result of the violations, which is part of the EPA penalty policy under several statutes.  The Third Circuit reviewed the district court’s interest rate determination.  The court found, “Based upon our analysis of the government expert's methodology, we are unconvinced that the use of the 12.73% interest rate achieves the stated purpose of ‘leveling the economic playing field,’ nor are we sure that it bears much connection to a meaningful measure of [defendant]'s cost of capital.”  Id. at 184.  Therefore, the court remanded the issue for further proceedings and concluded “that the proper method for determining economic benefit is to base the calculation on the least costly method of compliance.”  Id. at 169.  In its discussion, the court stated, “any advantage that [defendant] enjoyed over its competitors by avoiding the cost of CWA compliance is measured by the return that [defendant] actually realized on its retained funds or the risk-free return it might have enjoyed using those funds.”  Id. at 183.

Finally, the Third Circuit had to decide whether violations of monthly average limitations under a NPDES permit should be counted as violations for each day of the month for purposes of penalty assessment.  The court established that “district courts have discretion to determine, on the facts of each case, how many violation days should be assessed for penalty purposes for the violation of a monthly average limit, based on whether violations are already sufficiently sanctioned as violations of a daily maximum limit.”  Id. at 169.  As the district court did not use this standard in its penalty assessment in the case below, the court remanded the issue for further consideration.  
D.
Ailor v. City of Maynardville, Tennessee, 368 F.3d 587 (6th Cir. 2004).

In Ailor, the court criticized a citizen suit brought in “the final chapter” of state enforcement proceeding and ruled the action moot.  Plaintiffs brought a citizen suit against defendant pursuant to the Clean Water Act (“CWA”) and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”).  Defendant owned and ran a sewage plant under a NPDES permit.  Due to repeated violations of the permit, the state commenced enforcement proceedings against defendant in 1993.  These proceedings resulted in an Agreed Order between the state and the defendant in 1995.  Defendant completed all of the required actions under that Order and placed a new wastewater treatment plant on line in November 2000. 

On February 7, 2001, two and one-half months after the defendant’s wastewater treatment plant was in full operation, plaintiff gave defendant notice of a potential lawsuit, as required under the CWA and RCRA.  On May 16, 2001, plaintiffs filed suit in federal court under RCRA, the CWA, and state law.  The complaint sought remedial relief, compensatory damages, punitive damages, and litigation costs, including reasonable attorney's fees.  Plaintiff alleged “that the new plant had frequent overflows, thereby discharging untreated sewage and other pollutants into Bull Run Creek.”  Id. at 593.  The complaint further stated, “[t]his frequent discharge of raw sewage, and other pollutants, past and present, has caused plaintiffs serious bodily injury and loss of value in plaintiffs' property.”  Id.

The only recent problem had occurred several weeks prior to the filing of the federal complaint and involved overflows from two manholes.  Since the plaintiff alleged only violations at Bull Run Creek and had failed to offer proof that the challenged practices were likely to continue, the plaintiff’s claims were ruled moot.
The chief concern for the Sixth Circuit was the issue of mootness.  The court, relying on the Supreme Court’s guidance in Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Svcs. (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 167 (2000)., held that the plaintiff no longer had an “injury in fact” that was “actual or imminent.”  Id. at 587.  The court stated, “By the time Plaintiffs gave notice of intent to sue in February 2001 and filed suit sixty days later on May 16, 2001, the State of Tennessee had already procured the relief Plaintiffs sought in their complaint, namely remedial efforts to stop violations of the NPDES permit.”  Id.

E.
American Canoe Ass’n v. City of Attalla, 363 F.3d 1085, (11th Cir. 2004).

In this case, the Eleventh Circuit held that the federal rule governing computation of statutory time periods applies to the 60-day notice period for filing a citizen suit under the Clean Water Act (“CWA”).  The sole issue before the court was the applicability of Fed.R.Civ.P. 6(a) to the notice requirements of § 505(b)(1) of the CWA.  Fed.R.Civ.P. 6(a) concerns computation of periods of time.  The court determined that the federal rule did apply to the provisions of the CWA because it “bespeaks the legislature’s intentions on how prescribed periods should be measured.”  Id. at 1089.  Therefore, the plaintiff’s suit, filed the 61st day (and thus allegedly after the 60 day waiting period in the statute had expired) on the same day as a state enforcement proceeding was initiated, was prematurely filed because the 60th day, a Sunday, did not count in determining the expiration of the waiting period.  

F.
McAbee v. City of Fort Payne, 318 F.3d 1248 (11th Cir. 2003).

In McAbee, the Eleventh Circuit determined the applicable comparability standard between state and federal laws for purposes of citizen suit preclusion.  The court found arguments against a loose, overall standard compelling and adopted a rough comparability test instead.  The rough comparability standard requires comparability between each class of provisions in federal and state acts.  The court “must compare each class of state-law provisions to its federal analogue, at least until one class of provisions fails the comparability test.”  Id. at 1256.

The court based its adoption of the rough comparability standard on three arguments.  First, under an overall balancing test, “judges would be forced to weigh incommensurable values.”  Id. at 1255.  The Eleventh Circuit also decided that the rough comparability standard “reduces uncertainty not only for courts but also for potential litigants, state administrative agencies, and state legislatures.”  Id.  Finally, legislative history supported requiring rough comparability between each class of provisions.  

Using this standard, the Eleventh Circuit determined that Alabama’s Water Pollution Control Act and Environmental Management Act are not sufficiently comparable to CWA § 309(g).  Though the court found the penalty assessment provisions to be comparable, the public participation provisions were not deemed to be so.  The court emphasized that the rough comparability standard was not stringent but stated, “the differences . . . strike at the heart of whether the statute provides interested citizens a meaningful opportunity to participate . . . .”  Id. at 1257.  Thus, Alabama state law provisions did not preclude plaintiff’s citizen suit.  

G.
Alabama-Tombigbee Rivers Coalition v. Norton, 338 F.3d 1244 (11th Cir. 
2003).

The Eleventh Circuit held in Alabama-Tombigbee that a nonprofit coalition whose members used waterways in their businesses showed injury-in-fact sufficient to support standing in its action challenging the government’s listing of the Alabama sturgeon as an endangered species pursuant to the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”).  The coalition, consisting of sixteen industries, agencies, and associations, filed the action under the citizen suit provision of the ESA.  The district court rejected the coalition’s standing and dismissed the case.

On appeal, the circuit court reviewed the coalition’s standing de novo.  The court, relying on Lujan’s guidance, determined that the listing of the sturgeon on the endangered species list injured the coalition and will continue to do so.  Therefore, the court decided the coalition did have standing to sue.  

Likening the case to Bennett v. Spear, above, the court stated that the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service’s (“FWS”) Biological Opinion had “a powerful coercive effect.”  Id. at 1255.  The coalition’s injuries were produced by the coercive effect of the ESA as implemented by the FWS.  Therefore, the court stated, “federal agencies and [c]oalition members must at least consider whether consultation is necessary for their activities.”  Id.  The court then rejected the argument that consultation is voluntary.

H.
Sierra Club v. Norton, 313 F. Supp.2d 1291 (S.D. Ala. 2004).

In this case, Plaintiff challenged the federal defendants’ open-ended delay in amending the critical habitat of three closely-related subspecies designated as endangered.  Plaintiff asserted, in effect, that “the limitation of jurisdiction under the citizen suit provision of the ESA to agency action which is not discretionary allows federal courts to exercise jurisdiction over claims of abuse of agency discretion.”  Id. at 1294.  The court rejected the plaintiff’s argument, following the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia’s rejection of a similar argument under the Clean Air Act.  See Oljato Chapter of Navajo Tribe v. Train, 515 F.2d 654 (D.C. Cir. 1975).  Focusing on the distinction between an abuse of discretion and a failure to perform a nondiscretionary act, the district court found that it lacked jurisdiction under the citizen suit provision of the ESA and dismissed the claim brought pursuant to that provision.

I.
Pennsylvania Envt’l. Defense Found. (PEDF) v. Cannon-McMillan School 
Dist., 152 F.3d 228 (3d Cir. 1998).

In PEDF, the court held that a court must, at least initially, compute attorneys’ fees by the lodestar method
 in a citizen suit action.  In this case, the court was to award attorneys’ fees to the plaintiff citizen organization.  The court ordered each side to draft an order awarding fees, setting an amount and justifying that amount.  The court stated that it would then sign and approve the order that it agreed with most, without modification.


The Third Circuit rejected this approach in light of Supreme Court decisions mandating the lodestar method.  While the court has discretion to adjust attorneys’ fees with regard to the degree of success obtained and other factors, it must start by calculating the lodestar.  Furthermore, the court may not apply across-the-board percentage reductions, instead it should provide an explanation of its reasons for deviating from a pure lodestar.  The circuit court held that the district court erred in merely adopting the findings of one side, rather than making its own independent determination.  Thus, the court could have adopted one party’s order only if it totally agreed with the substance of that order.  Otherwise, the Third Circuit held that a court must use its independent judgment to modify any proposed order to comply with its judgment.

J.
Sierra Club v. Glickman, 156 F.3d. 606, 1998 WL 658678 at *1 (5th Cir. 
1998).

The Fifth Circuit held that the citizen suit provision of the Endangered Species Act (ESA) provides a cause of action to require the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA)  to consult with the Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”) and to utilize its authorities to carry out programs for the conservation of the endangered species in the Edwards Aquifer in Texas.  The court found that the citizen suit provision of the ESA “is a means by which private parties may enforce the substantive provisions of the ESA against any regulated party—both private entities and Government agencies.”  Thus, the court held that the ESA provides a cause of action to citizens to enforce substantive provisions of the statute.

K.
Davis v. Sun Oil Co., 148 F.3d 606 (6th Cir. 1998).

In Davis, the 6th Circuit held that the Federal Courts do not have exclusive jurisdiction over citizen suits under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA).  In this case, a landowner sued the previous property owner to compel performance on a contract to remove an underground storage tank and remediate the property.  The plaintiff sued on the contract in Ohio state court and prevailed, with the court awarding specific performance and the costs already incurred in cleanup.  An Ohio appellate court modified the specific performance decree and affirmed.  Plaintiff also brought a concurrent action in federal court under RCRA, which was stayed until the state court proceedings concluded.

Defendant Sun Oil defended on the ground that the federal case was barred by res judicata, that the state law claim already provided the same remedy sought in the federal RCRA claim.  The trial court held that even if plaintiff could seek further remedy under RCRA, the claim was barred by res judicata because the doctrine barred “all subsequent actions based upon any claim arising out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject matter of the previous action.”  The Court of Appeals agreed, holding that the RCRA claims should have been brought in state court.

The Sixth Circuit brushed aside arguments that the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction over RCRA claims.  The applicable statute provides that RCRA citizen suits “shall be brought in the district court for the district which the alleged violation occurred or the alleged endangerment may occur.”  42 U.S.C. § 6972.  The court decided to reject the analysis of the District of New Jersey, which held that the statute required suits be brought in the district courts.  See Middlesex County Bd. of Chosen Freeholders v. New Jersey, 645 F. Supp. 715 (D.N.J. 1986).  The Sixth Circuit held, instead, that the language was similar to Title VII language stating that “each United States court of a place subject to the jurisdiction of the United States shall have jurisdiction under this subchapter,” which the Supreme Court held to vest only concurrent jurisdiction in the district courts.  See Yellow Freight System, Inc. v. Donnelly, 494 U.S. 820 (1990).

It is unclear whether this case will be persuasive to other courts.  This seems to be a case of “hard facts make bad law.”  The Ohio court had already enjoined Sun Oil to clean up the property to state law standards, and there was nothing more to be gained by continued prosecution of the case in federal court.  Additionally, the rationale relied on by the court is suspect.  The RCRA provision mandating that private suits “shall be brought in the district court” appears on its face to require such cases be brought in federal court.  On the other hand, the language from Title VII seems only to vest jurisdiction in the federal courts, although permitting the action to be brought in state court.  Because of the court’s crabbed comparison of the two differently worded statutes and the existence of contrary authority, this case may not reflect the majority view.

L.
Comfort Lake Ass’n, Inc. v. Dresel Contracting, Inc., 138 F.3d 351 (8th Cir. 
1998).

The Eighth Circuit held in Comfort Lake that an administrative agreement reached as a result of informal regulatory action precludes a citizen suit under the Clean Water Act.  In this case, the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (MPCA) issued a NPDES permit for a construction site to defendant Dresel.  Dresel was in violation of its permit for a time, and a citizen group served notice that it intended to bring an action in accordance with the Clean Water Act citizen suit provisions.  Meanwhile the MPCA was engaged in informal proceedings to bring Dresel into compliance.  Dresel came into compliance before the issuance of the final administrative order, and MPCA subsequently terminated the permit when construction at the site was completed.

The court held that the claims for injunctive relief were moot because the challenged conduct, the permit violations, had ceased and were not likely to recur because MPCA had terminated the permit.  Thus, unless “there is a realistic prospect that the violations alleged in [the] complaint will continue,” the case is moot.  Atlantic States Legal Found., Inc. v. Eastman Kodak Co., 933 F.2d 124, 127 (2d Cir. 1991).  Furthermore, the court held that the action was precluded by the informal administrative enforcement undertaken by MPCA.  The court first noted that any claim for civil penalties must be bottomed upon ongoing violations of the permit.  However, when the violations have been terminated due to agency action, the citizen suit is precluded.  MPCA was “diligently prosecuting” the matter, even though it chose to proceed through informal means. 

M.
Brem-Air Disposal v. Cohen, 156 F.3d 1002, 1998 WL 659185 at *1 (9th 
Cir. 1998).

In this case, the court held that the citizen suit provision of RCRA precluded review under the APA.  Here, a city garbage contractor brought an action against the federal government alleging that it wrongfully negotiated a contract with another company.  Plaintiff alleged that under RCRA, the government should have complied with “all ‘local requirements’ concerning the collection and disposal of solid waste, including laws relating to municipal contracts” before awarding its contract.  The federal government defended on the ground that the APA did not give the court jurisdiction over the case.  

The court agreed, citing the provision of the APA precluding review when the substantive statute provides “adequate remedy.”  The court held RCRA’s citizen suit provision provided an “adequate remedy.”  While RCRA mandated a 60-day notice provision, the court held that use of the APA to circumvent that requirement was foreclosed by Oregon Natural Resources Council v. United States Forest Svc., 834 F.2d 842 (9th Cir. 1987) (holding that plaintiffs may not “circumvent the notice requirements of the citizen suit provision by resorting to the APA” in the context of the Clean Water Act.).  Thus, the Brem-Air court held that the APA cannot provide jurisdiction for cases that should be brought as RCRA citizen suits.

N.
Natural Resources Defense Council v. NVF Co., 1998 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
9790, No. 97-496-SLR (D. Del. 1998).

In this case, a court rejected a challenge to the standing of plaintiff Natural Resources Defense Council, (NRDC), and rejected claims that the case was precluded by administrative enforcement.  The case centered around violations by NVF of its NPDES permit, involving discharges of zinc into the receiving waters.  NVF defended on the grounds that NRDC lacked standing, that it was not in violation at the time the suit was commenced and that the suit was precluded by administrative enforcement.

First, the court held that the allegation that zinc pollution was toxic to aquatic life was sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss, in light of NVF’s failure to provide any evidence refuting plaintiff’s allegations of injury.  However, the court also ruled that NVF could renew its motion for dismissal later in the proceedings if plaintiff had not by then met the standard of proof to show injury.

Second, the court rejected NVF’s claim that it was no longer in violation of the NPDES permit.  This argument was similar to a mootness argument, with NVF claiming that the plaintiff had no continued standing.  The court noted that while NVF was not in violation post-complaint, its measures were stop-gap in nature.  Thus, the court found that NVF could violate the permit requirements in the future and that its actions amounted to “voluntary cessation.”  Because there was a real possibility of renewed violation, the court allowed the suit to proceed.

Finally, the court held that the administrative actions by the Delaware Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control did not rise to the level of “administrative enforcement” so as to preclude the citizen suit.  The actions undertaken by the agency were merely “periodic monitoring” rather than a compliance order.  Therefore, the citizen suit claim was not precluded by the administrative actions.

O.
Briggs and Stratton Corp. v. Concrete Sales and Svcs., 20 F. Supp. 2d 
1356, 1998 WL 682991 at *1, (M.D. Ga. 1998).

The court in this case held that the RCRA citizen suit provision allows claims for ongoing violations resulting from past disposal practices.  Furthermore, it held that a consent order specifically excepting the matter at issue from coverage is not “diligent prosecution” of the matter.  In this case, a subsequent landowner brought suit against previous landowners for improperly disposing of hazardous waste on the property.  The Georgia Environmental Protection Division entered into a consent decree with both defendants and plaintiffs.  However, that decree specifically excluded matters relating to the court case or any cause of action under RCRA.  Moreover, the lawsuit had commenced prior to the entry of the consent order.  Therefore, the court held that the consent order did not amount to “diligent prosecution” which would preclude recovery under the citizen suit provision of RCRA.

P.
Concerned Citizens of Agriculture Street Landfill, Inc. v. Browner, 1998 
WL 104656 at *1 (E.D. La. 1998).

In Concerned Citizens, the court held that the district courts do not have jurisdiction to hear citizen suit challenges to ongoing remedial actions under CERCLA.  Plaintiff Concerned Citizens of Agriculture Street Landfill, Inc. (CCASL), a citizen group with members residing near the Agriculture Street Landfill Superfund Site, brought an action to enjoin continuing remedial or response actions at the site.  The site was the subject of ongoing response actions under 42 U.S.C. § 9604.  CERCLA specifically excludes from federal jurisdiction challenges to removal or remedial actions except under § 9604, inter alia, in cases arising under 42 U.S.C. § 9659 alleging that such action was in violation of CERCLA.

The court held that the plain language of the statute, which allows suits challenging only an action that was in violation of CERCLA, does not allow challenges to ongoing CERCLA actions.  The court noted that this provision is intended to allow EPA to work expeditiously on cleanup activities related to a site, rather than dividing its efforts between cleanup and defending a lawsuit.  The court further noted that the plaintiff could not amend its pleadings on appeal to challenge now completed remedial actions in order to bootstrap the dismissed actions into the court’s jurisdiction.  Finally, the court held that both state law and unrelated federal challenges to an ongoing remedial action are jurisdictionally barred under CERCLA.

Q.
Dubois v. U.S. Dep’t of Agriculture, 20 F. Supp. 2d 263, 1998 WL 673645 
(D.N.H. 1998).

In Dubois, a court held that a citizen suit for civil penalties could not continue because the court had enjoined the alleged pollution.  Plaintiff brought suit under the Clean Water Act’s (CWA) citizen suit provision against a ski resort for unpermitted discharges into a “water of the United States.”  In an earlier decision, the district court enjoined the defendant from further violations of the CWA.  In contrast to Steel Co., and Laidlaw, supra, here the defendant had apparently not come into compliance until the injunction.  However, the injunction was enforceable and required compliance with the CWA.  So, as in Steel Co. and Laidlaw, the only remaining remedy for the court to impose was civil penalties payable to the United States.

The court noted that Steel Co. established that when the only remedy available in a citizen suit is civil damages payable to the U.S. Treasury, the case is moot for want of redressability.  Citing Laidlaw, the court held that the case was moot in light of its recent decision enjoining further violations by the defendant.  The court ruled that the plaintiff no longer had an interest in the litigation that would be redressed by any possible remedy.  Moreover, the court held the case did not fit into the exception created for voluntary cessation of illegal activity.  Here, the defendant did not voluntarily comply with the law, leaving it free to violate the law in the future; the defendant was subject to an enforceable court order to comply with the law.  Thus, the court distinguished precedent cited by the plaintiff regarding voluntary cessation because the defendant did not truly cease his violations voluntarily.

R.
Texans United for a Safe Economy Education Fund v. Crown Central 
Petroleum Corp., No. H-97-2427 (S.D. Tex. Aug. 3, 1998).

In this case, the court held that diligent administrative enforcement of compliance matters precludes a Clean Air Act (CAA) citizens suit on the same matter.  Plaintiff brought an action against Crown Central for violation of CAA limits for sulfur dioxide and hydrogen sulfide.  Crown Central moved for summary judgment on the bases of standing and statutory preclusion.  The court declined to decide standing because it found that the citizen suit was precluded by the on-going administrative enforcement proceeding.

While the CAA allows citizen suits, the enabling section precludes them when an enforcement agency “is diligently prosecuting a civil action in a court of the United States or a State.”  The circuits are split on whether that provision of the CAA should be read for its plain meaning or whether Congress meant to include administrative tribunals within scope of the preclusion.  Compare Baughman v. Bradford Coal Co., 592 F.2d 215 (3d Cir. 1979) with Friends of the Earth v. Consolidated Rail Corp., 768 F.2d 57 (2d Cir. 1985) and Sierra Club v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 834 F.2d 1517 (9th Cir. 1987).  The Crown Central court specifically noted that the agency had authority similar to that of a judicial tribunal; it could impose civil penalties and order compliance with regulatory standards.  Moreover, all interested parties had a right to participate in the administrative proceeding, through intervention procedures and participation in evidentiary hearings.  Finally, the administrative tribunal imposed a fine of nearly $650,000 on the violator.  Thus, the court ruled that the administrative action was so similar to a judicial action so as to preclude a citizen suit.

IV.
Trends

In recent years, a number of cases have injected a modicum of common sense into the world of citizen suits.  The Supreme Court has held that citizens may not sue for past violations of the Community Right to Know Act unless a remedy can redress the alleged injury suffered by the plaintiff.  Circuit courts and district courts have held that when a defendant comes into compliance with the law or a permit, and there is little chance that it will repeat the violations, the citizen suit must be dismissed.  Furthermore, courts have discouraged duplicative litigation by requiring that claims under statutory environmental law and traditional tort and contract law must be brought at the same time.  Finally, courts have protected agency discretion by precluding citizen suits that may interfere with an agency enforcement or remedial action.

However, the courts by no means have gutted the citizen suit provisions of the various environmental statutes.  For example, a court recently ruled that the Endangered Species Act citizen suit provision could be used to require consultation among federal agencies and environmental coalition members.  Thus, while the courts have placed sensible limits on the extent that citizen suits can be used, citizen suits remain a viable vehicle for remedying ongoing violations of environmental laws that are not being adequately addressed by agency action.

While there is disagreement among commentators, a number of recent articles do suggest that judicial trends show courts construing citizen suit notice requirements even more strictly.  Some see an increasing willingness of courts to preclude citizen suits when a government agency takes enforcement action and assert that courts are unlikely to impose remedies beyond those minimally necessary to comply with the explicit permit or regulatory conditions.  

Commentators also note less tolerance for citizen suits seeking agency compliance with mandatory duties (action-forcing cases) without a strong showing that the federal agency has failed to perform the mandatory duties Congress specifically ordered to be done by a date certain.  In addition, constitutional defenses continue to limit citizen suits.  Courts have begun to revisit the standing analysis in a more vigorous way, going behind affidavits claiming injury and requiring proof of injury at trial.

Last, the Buckhannon case (Buckhannon Board & Care Home, Inc. v. West Virginia Department of Health & Human Resources, 532 U.S. 598 (2001)) suggests that even successful citizen suit plaintiffs may never see an attorneys fees payday.  

All of these trends suggest that the courts remain somewhat ambivalent to citizen suits in general.  Thus, when faced with such a suit the defendant must not simply wring his hands and cry “woe is me”.  Rather, the defendant should investigate the basis of the claim and take appropriate action to head it off or mitigate the damages likely to be incurred, and in the right circumstances, vigorously defend the claim on the merits once it is brought.

V.
Conclusion 

This paper is not meant to exhaustively discuss these issues.  Rather, the intent it to provide a brief overview of these issues, an update on a number of recent cases where these issues were involved, and try to discern current trends in citizen suit litigation.  Other panel members will discuss several specific cases in which they are involved where one or more of the issues has played a major role in the litigation.  

Citizen suits are likely to remain a fixture in the environmental litigation realm.  They may certainly be a bane to defendants, but there is no doubt they are a legitimate tool of citizen groups to enforce the provisions of environmental statutes for the general benefit of the public when the enforcement agency is either too weak, too lax, or too understaffed to do the job itself.  

� See, e.g., Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. §1365; Toxic Substances Control Act (“TSCA”), 15 U.S.C. §2619; Solid Waste Disposal Act, 42 U.S.C. §6972(a)(1)(B) (Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (“RCRA”) §7002); Clean Air Act (“CAA”) 42 U.S.C. §7604; Endangered Species Act (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C. §1540(g); Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) 42 U.S.C. §9659.  The only major environmental statute not containing a citizen suit provision is the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act, 7 U.S.C. §§1136 et al.


� (See e.g., New York v. Niagara Mohawk Power Corp., 263 F. Supp. 2d 650 (W.D.N.Y. 2003) (involving CAA cite suit by State of New York for failure to obtain pre-construction permit). 


� (See e.g., Interfaith Cmty. Org. v. Honeywell Int’l., Inc., 263 F.. Supp. 2d 796) (involving RCRA citizen suit finding deposition of hexavalent chromium at site in Jersey City is an “imminent and substantial endangerment” and ordering cleanup).


� Gwaltney of  Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Foundation, Inc., 484 U.S. 49


� Friends of Frederick Seig Grove #94 v. Senoma County Water Agency, 124 F. Supp. 2d 1161 (N.D. of                        	Cal. 2000).  


� Catskills Mountains Chapter of Trout Unlimited, Inc. v. City of New York, 273 F. 3d 481 (2d Cir. 2001).


� See e.g, Chesapeake Bay Foundation, Inc. v. Bethlehem Steel Corp., 652 F. Supp. 620 (D. Md. 1987). 


� See e.g. Baughman v. Bradford Const. Co., Inc., 592 F. 2d 57 (3d Cir. 1979), Atlantic States Legal Foundation,


Inc. v. Eastman Kodak Co., 933 F.2d 124 (2d Cir. 1991).  


� North & South Rivers Watershed Ass’n. v. Scituate, 949 F. 2d 552 (1st Cir. 1991) and Citizens for a 


Better Environment-California v. Union Oil Co., 83 Fed. 3d 1111 (9th Cir. 1996).    


� 319 F.3d 2d 678 (5th Cir. 2003).


� Gwaltney, Id.


� The courts have also created several “prudential” elements to the standing requirement, elements that Congress may negate.  Courts require that challengers of a statute have an interest within the “zone of interests” protected or regulated by the statute in question.  Courts also prohibit “third-party” standing; plaintiffs who bring suit must generally seek remedy to injuries they themselves have suffered.  Finally, courts prohibit “generalized grievances.”  For a discussion of these standing requirements, see Erwin Chemerinsky, Federal Jurisdiction § 2.3 (1994).  


� In this portion of its opinion, the Court disapproved of the practice of “hypothetical standing:” which is deciding the merits of the case when a party objecting to the other party’s standing would prevail on the merits anyway.  The Court characterized this practice as equivalent to the issuance of advisory opinions, which violates the live case and controversy requirement of Article III.


� The district court, with the Ninth Circuit affirming, dismissed the case for lack of standing under the prudential “zone of interests” doctrine.  The Supreme Court, while discussing the doctrine of “zone of interests” at length, rejected the district court’s opinion without much difficulty.  See Spear, 117 S. Ct. at 1160.  The court also rejected the constitutional standing arguments raised by the government, noting that the plaintiff’s burden to show standing at the motion to dismiss stage is light.  Id.at 1163-65..


� The “lodestar” is simply the fee calculated by multiplying a reasonable number of hours required by the case by a reasonable fee.  Adjustments may then be made for the degree of success achieved and other factors.


� See Am. Canoe Association v. Murphy Farms, Inc., 326 Fed. 3rd 505 (4th Cir. 2003).  
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